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FOREWORD BY DR AARON EDWARDS


As a young soldier, Ken Wharton deployed to Northern Ireland at the height of the Troubles. He would not return again for thirty-five years, when he made an emotional pilgrimage to revisit the scenes of the war he left behind. In commemorating his fallen comrades, he consoled himself with the determination to understand the people of Northern Ireland and their Troubles. In this he has succeeded, writing eight best-selling books on one of the most destructive conflicts in modern European history.


Ken’s books adorn the shelves not only of those who witnessed these events unfold at first hand but also those of us who grew up in the shadow of the worst years of the Troubles.


Having researched and written about the Troubles for more than twenty years, I have found no better introduction to the military dimension of the conflict than Ken’s work.


I have frequently commended him in public for his exceptional service in highlighting the experiences of some of those 250,000 holders of the Northern Ireland campaign medal who served during Operation Banner, the British Army’s longest ever continuous deployment in modern times.


We must never forget the sacrifice and dedication of those members of the security forces who played such a pivotal role in stabilising the security situation in the Province. Although it is unfashionable to say it in certain quarters, we owe these men and women an enormous debt of gratitude. Without their stand against terrorism, it is doubtful whether we would have had the resulting peace process.


In his latest book, Ken Wharton gives us a hard-hitting, ethically minded analysis of the Troubles, half a century after their outbreak.


Ken is well aware that untangling the past is a messy business. It is littered with broken lives and traumatised people, many of whom rarely find a voice in the historical record. Ken Wharton reintroduces us to these forgotten people. He gives them a voice.


We see the terrible times they lived through from multiple eyewitness perspectives – from a soldier arriving on the scene of the Abercorn Restaurant bombing to the son of an RUC officer seeing his father grievously injured by a Provisional IRA under-car booby trap bomb, and beyond to a civilian who was blown up in a UVF no-warning bomb in the New Lodge area. Among a catalogue of atrocities, Ken recounts the IRA attack on construction workers whose van was blown up at the Teebane crossroads in County Tyrone on 17 January 1992. While Republicans were busy justifying their slaughter of seven Protestant civilians, I was stood in a school assembly observing a solemn two minutes’ silence in remembrance of the father of one of my school friends who had been killed – a working-class man murdered for no other reason than he was out earning a crust for his family. As ever in Ken’s work, we hear from those directly affected. Ken cites the sister of one of the victims. ‘I was praying that David would be alive, no matter how serious his injuries were,’ she recalled. ‘How selfish of me. At exactly 9 p.m., my sister Heather phoned; her exact words were, “Ruth, it’s all over, David is dead.”’ These are the stories rarely told in the history books.


Apart from detailing the course and consequences of such horrific violence, Ken also considers the motives of those involved. There will be people who baulk at the suggestion that we can ever truly understand why people turn to violence. For those of us engaged in military education, we must at least try to explain – while never seeking to justify – why and how people felt compelled to take the steps they took. And, in the same way, we must also examine the consequences of their actions, the lives they cut short, the families they tore apart, and the communities left damaged by their violence.


Few agree on why the Troubles began, even fewer on who won or who lost. What we can all agree on is that this conflict has been a human tragedy. In his latest book, Ken Wharton ensures we never forget that truism. It is not an easy read.


The research Ken has undertaken reveals who the victims were, how they were going about their everyday lives when they were killed, and the trauma inflicted upon those left behind.


It is vital that we gain informed insight into the consequences of attempting to resolve disputes by the means of armed force. We should not do this for any kind of grim satisfaction but with the express intention of learning the lessons of the past so as not to repeat the mistakes.


Ken is under no illusion where much of the blame lies for these mistakes. He was a soldier once, faithfully performing his duties in service of his country. Half a century on, he has earned the right to an opinion. Beyond the individual culpability of the men and women who pulled triggers or detonated bombs, Ken singles out the ‘arrogance’ and ‘insensitivity’ of the British establishment for considerable opprobrium: arrogance because they fail to recognise that what took place in Northern Ireland was a war in every sense of the word, insensitive because they act without a single second’s thought about the impact of their decisions on the lives of the grieving families. This arrogance and insensitivity is manifested in the refusal of our politicians, newspaper editors and teachers to accept the true losses of Op Banner and blithely refer to the war in Britain’s back yard as a ‘police action – an aid to the civil power’.


In accepting and seeking to explain the ‘true losses’ of half a century of Northern Ireland’s Troubles, Ken has alerted us to the tragedy of what happened. We should all read and learn from our history, especially in a society that has, in recent times, exhibited all the signs of relapsing back into violent conflict.


They say in Ireland that the past is the present. It is hard to dispute that adage, though we could always do more to appreciate why this remains the case. Ken Wharton understands this more than most, and it is for this reason alone that I commend his latest book to you.


Dr Aaron Edwards, FRHistS


Camberley, UK


August 2018
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AUTHOR’S NOTE


I have written eleven previous books on the Troubles, largely from the perspective of the security forces. In them, my personal detestation for the paramilitaries of both sides has been very evident; indeed, I have not sought to portray it any other way. I have not confined my opprobrium to the Republicans, as I equally loathe their Loyalist counterparts, but I was aware that I would one day need to rein in my ‘repetitive vitriol’.*


In this fifty-year history, I have attempted to be as objective as possible and report the facts without personal opinion. This, in view of the subject matter, was not an easy task. However, I concede that to be accepted as a military historian of serious note, it is necessary to do so.


I trust that I have succeeded in this objective, but I have stumbled, foundering on several occasions, when researching the terrible atrocities perpetuated by the Provisional IRA, the UFF and the UVF. It is also difficult to be passively objective in the face of constant attempts by Sinn Féin to seemingly rewrite the history of the Troubles, as they seek to sanitise their role in the violence of the last fifty years.


You, the reader, can judge how successful my efforts have been.





 


________________


* The words used by an Australian reader when criticising me on Amazon.au.




INTRODUCTION


As the twentieth century dawned, the British Empire was still at its zenith; it was, however, under greater pressure than at any time since the American War of Independence of 1775–83 and the Indian Mutiny of 1857–58. In South Africa, British Redcoats were fighting a guerrilla war with the Dutch settlers, the intransigent Boers, and other ‘loyal dominions’ such as Canada, New Zealand and Australia were pushing for self-government and national self-determination. The clamour for such continued to grow, becoming irresistible by the middle of the century. After two world wars had robbed Britain of the flower of the nation’s youth as well as leaving it bankrupt, the sun began to set on the Empire on which ‘the sun never set’.


There was disquiet 3,500 miles away in Canada, as well as 12,000 miles away in Australia and, of course, in South Africa; but worryingly, there was a problem much closer to home. Growing turmoil, civil disobedience and political murder were taking place much, much closer to Britain’s shores; 110 miles away to be precise in Ireland. The Irish problem was on Britain’s doorstep and it required her attention, as much as did the fighting against the Boers at Mafeking and Spion Kop – possibly even more so, as the problems would echo long into the twenty-first century in that green island across the Irish Sea.


Problems between the Irish and the British/English have their roots in the twentieth century and probably even earlier, but as a starting point, many observers point to Cromwell’s conquest of Ireland shortly after the end of the English Civil War, and the repopulation of the historical land of Ulster with Scottish Protestants from the western side of Bonnie Scotland. Over the course of the next three centuries, the Irish fought to have British influence removed from their soil with the Fenians at the forefront of their fight for independence. The Fenians believed in two fundamental principles: firstly, that Ireland had a natural right to independence; secondly, that this right could be won only by armed revolution. The movement was represented at various times by politically homogeneous movements such as the Society of United Irishmen, Irish Republican Brotherhood, the Irish Patriot Party and the Young Irelanders, among others. Their protests, indeed the longevity of the movement, accelerated after the Great Famine of 1845–49. The bitterness of the Irish people over the perceived culpability of the British grew from this point, culminating in the 1916 Easter Rising in Dublin.


It is worth noting that 180,000 Irishmen* joined the British Army, fighting with distinction at Mons, Ypres, the Somme and countless other muddy killing fields of Northern France and Belgium. The armed insurrections in Dublin’s city centre, based around the main GPO Building in O’Connell Street, were led by more than 1,250 dissidents, variously described as ‘the citizen army’ as well as the Irish Republican Army (IRA); it lasted for a week at a cost of more than 500 lives. It did not win popular support, as most of the Irish believed in the planned Home Rule Bill, which would see independence at the end of the war anyway. However, Britain’s incredibly clumsy handling of the post-Rising period guaranteed that the rebels would win the backing of the majority of Catholic Ireland. Fifteen of the rebel leaders were executed and more than 3,000 people were arrested, thus simply driving ordinary civilians into the arms of the dissidents.


At the end of the Great War, with British dead approaching three-quarters of a million, the independence movement continued towards self-determination and independence, which came in 1921, together with the compromise of partition into the Irish Free State and Ulster (Northern Ireland). There were nine counties in the ‘traditional’ land of Ulster: Cavan, Monaghan and Donegal, which were to be governed by the new Irish government, and Fermanagh, Tyrone, Londonderry, Antrim, Down and Armagh, which would remain part of the UK. The capital of the new state of Northern Ireland, an overwhelmingly Protestant country, would be Belfast.


Simple; problems solved; peace ever after? Sadly not: the IRA fought a bitter civil war as they attempted to overthrow the pro-treaty forces of the new Eire government; at the end of the fighting, approximately 3,800 lay dead. Ireland was still divided, but the fledgling IRA dumped their arms and peace came; or did it? Articles 2 and 3 of the new Irish Constitution demanded the ‘return of the North’ to the Irish Free State. The Irish ‘founding fathers’ could not have realised that they were effectively legitimising anything and everything that Republican paramilitary groups would do in the name of ‘Irish unity’. The IRA have always maintained that these two clauses gave them the ‘moral high ground’ to continue their armed campaigns.


The IRA relied on a hit-and-run strategy, with at times random, pinprick strikes against the armed forces of Northern Ireland; at other times – the 1956–57 border campaign for example – with more concerted efforts. They even bombed mainland Britain – notably London and Coventry – somewhat ineffectually, but with sufficient force to make those fighting the Blitz against the German Luftwaffe occasionally take their eye off the ball.


Fast forward to the late 1960s: Northern Ireland was a Protestant and Loyalist state with a two-thirds Protestant majority with an unofficial policy of quite effective sectarian discrimination against the Roman Catholics. It was not uncommon, pre-1968, for an employer to place adverts blatantly stating that ‘No Catholics should apply’. It was as blatant and overt as that; it was naked discrimination. When this became unacceptable, other methods could be found to weed out ‘unsuitable applicants’. Application forms might request religious affiliations, or failing that, the address of a would-be employee would likely reveal their religious leanings. For example, an address on the Falls Road, Ballymurphy Estate, etc., would likely be the home of a Catholic, whilst an address on the Shankill, Crumlin Road, Woodvale or Tiger’s Bay would demonstrate that the application was a Protestant. The growth of civil rights organisations such as the Northern Ireland Civil Rights Association (NICRA) took the fight for equality onto the streets, where they met the hard-line Unionists head-on; it was never going to be a marriage made in heaven.


It is necessary, however, to draw some balance; equally, it is vital that we also look at why this discrimination – perceived or otherwise – happened, and indeed, if it happened in the manner in which the Nationalist politicians would want history to believe. It is axiomatic that at the time of the Irish rebellion, the Protestants in the north, in the six counties, had expressed a desire to remain a loyal and integral part of the Union. They wanted to remain in the United Kingdom, after all, like the Southern Irish who had fought and bled out in the mud of the Somme, Ypres and Passchendaele – so too had they. Indeed, the Protestants had continued shedding blood during the Partition riots in the years following the war. The Loyalists settled on being part of the Union, albeit acutely aware that the majority of the Catholics who were, by now, no longer part of Ireland were living inside a country that was overwhelmingly Protestant. Many felt that they would be ‘traitors’ who would agitate from within to destroy the Loyalist enclave on the island of Ireland; they saw Catholics as trouble-causers and malcontents. With pressure from the fledgling Irish Republican Army creating dissent from within and border attacks from without, the Protestant ‘siege mentality’ of ‘No Surrender’ became inevitably part of their mindset. Cross-border attacks by the IRA on Royal Irish Constabulary (RIC), later Royal Ulster Constabulary (RUC) barracks* caused great loss of life and destruction of property.


So, from 1922 onwards – possibly even much earlier – the siege mentality gained a hold, passed down through mothers’ milk. The new government of the Irish Republic had made it manifestly clear in the second and third clauses of their new Constitution that they considered that the North belonged to them and that they would never stop attempting to ‘bring them back into the fold’. The IRA could, claiming historical, constitutional as well as legal precedent, justify their campaign of violence and civil unrest.


One member of the Loyalists put the case to me, arguing in a cogent and rational manner that when fellow writers raise the ‘discrimination’ issue, we tend to overlook the fact that the Ulster Civil Service practised a form of positive discrimination towards Roman Catholics. He told me: ‘The Roman Catholic Church were the real rulers of Ireland, and they preached hatred from the pulpit, which included telling them not to co-operate with the Ulster Government.’ Additionally, there is clear evidence of the Catholics caused further division in Northern Ireland, as they have done throughout the western world, by insisting on a separate education system. In stipulating that no Protestant teacher could be employed in an RC school, while aware that the State schools embraced applicants from any religion, the Catholics further brought about the sectarian divide that eventually became an abyss.


Rioting and civil disobedience escalated into out-and-out violence against the RUC; the later disbanded, largely discredited, ‘B’ Specials overreacted in many cases, which simply increased the hostility on both sides. Eventually, on 14 August 1969, the then Prime Minister of Great Britain, Harold Wilson, ordered troops onto the streets of the two main riot-torn cities – Belfast and Londonderry – the very next day.


It wasn’t the ‘invasion’ that Republicans, Irish Americans and Britain’s ‘hard left’ claimed that it was – it wasn’t simply a case of ‘troops being sent in’ – and nor was it the ‘occupation of the North’ that the IRA’s armchair supporters bitterly described it as. It was simply a matter of reinforcing troops in a part of the UK. It was, for example, no more than soldiers based at Tidworth, Aldershot or Catterick going in to aid the police forces of Dorset, Hampshire and North Yorkshire respectively. The police – the RUC – were beleaguered and overrun; it was very obvious that soldiers were required to aid them.


Thus, on 14 August 1969, the Troubles effectively began.


Ken Wharton


Queensland


January 2019





 


________________


* Casualty figures for the 10th and 16th Irish Divisions were 37,761 killed, wounded or missing. The 36th (Ulster) Division figures were 32,186 killed, wounded or missing.


* Post-1921.




PROLOGUE


It was 13 August 1969, a hot, steamy Wednesday night; tensions had been building throughout the course of the British summer. Demonstrations, mass riots and confrontation between Catholic youths and the RUC had left two people dead: on 14 July, Francis McCloskey (67), a retired Catholic farmer, had been struck on the head by an RUC officer during a baton charge against rioters close to Dungiven Orange hall in Londonderry; two days later, Samuel Devenney (42), a Catholic father of nine, had been killed when several RUC officers broke into his house and, in a fit of unprovoked violence, had beaten several members of his family, during the course of which he was fatally injured. Eight days earlier, the Ulster Volunteer Force (UVF) had planted their first explosive device in the Irish Republic, which badly damaged the State-run RTÉ (Raidió Telifís Éireann) Centre in Dublin.


Stormont – the Northern Ireland seat of government – was failing and its police force was rapidly losing control, being unable to safely enter Nationalist areas of both Belfast and Londonderry; the scene was set.


As the minutes of 13 August ticked towards midnight, Shankill Road resident Herbert Roy (26), a Protestant father of a young child, made his way to the end of Dover Street, close to where it joined Divis Street. Dover Street was then mixed, although predominantly Protestant, whereas Divis Street, which housed the Divis Flats and the Divis complex – known to later generations of soldiers as the ‘Zanussi’ – was 100 per cent Catholic. It is not certain if Mr Roy was a rioter or had simply walked down to observe what was later classified as a ‘Loyalist/‘B’ Specials incursion’ into Catholic territory.


[image: Illustration]


The ‘bad arse tower’, as it was known to soldiers. It dominated Divis Street, Belfast.


The clock ticked down to midnight and passed; suddenly it was Thursday; crowds of aggressive Protestants began to congregate at the entrance to Divis Street. A short time later, the word ‘interface’ would be etched irrevocably into the lexicon of the Troubles. Anger was showing on their faces, with murder and mayhem almost certainly in the minds of many. An RUC spokesman later stated that chaos was ‘... reigning supreme in Dover Street’. What was happening on the streets of West Belfast was the personification of what US psychologist Philip Zimbardo* referred to as ‘deindividualisation’, the process where people in a crowd are pressurised or encouraged to lose their sense of socialised individual behaviour, which in turn manifests itself as aggressive, antisocial attitudes and actions. The crowds spilling down from the Loyalist areas towards the interface with the Falls and Divis Street had one attitude in common: they were sectarian bigots who were apparently unable to escape the influence of the crowd in which they found anonymity. Freed of remorse, they were able to attack the homes of fellow working-class people, albeit people from across the sectarian divide.


It was now what the Belfast people refer to as the ‘wee hors’ of Thursday morning; the violence known as the Troubles was ready to commence its thirty-year orgy of blood-letting. Mr Roy’s life was about to end; another orphan of Ireland was about to be created; the Troubles had ‘officially’ started.





 


________________


* The Lucifer Effect, Philip Zimbardo (Random House, 1971).




CHAPTER 1


THE FIRST AND SECOND DAYS


At precisely fifteen minutes past midnight on 14 August 1969, in nearby Gilford Street, a gunman of Óglaigh na hÉireann, as the IRA is referred to in Gaelic, opened fire into the throng of rioters streaming out of Dover Street into the Divis area; other shots were fired simultaneously by other IRA gunmen located in St Mary’s Comgall primary school. Mr Roy was hit by several rounds fired from a Thompson sub-machine gun; the IRA gunman was said to be Charles Hughes,* who was himself killed on 8 March 1971 in nearby Servia Street. Interestingly, the gunman who stood with the Provisional IRA (PIRA) was killed in a shoot-out with Official IRA (OIRA) gunmen.


Bleeding heavily from several chest wounds, the 26-year-old was rushed to the nearby Royal Victoria Hospital (RVH), which stands at the crossroads of the Falls Road, Springfield Road and Grosvenor Road. The hospital, which was founded in 1893, was later to become, albeit reluctantly, the world’s premier hospital for the treatment of gunshot and bomb-blast wounds. It was an epithet that was thrust on to it, with almost 2,000 cases treated during the long years of the Troubles. It is unique among all hospitals because almost two-thirds of Northern Ireland’s population live within a forty-minute journey of its doors and wonderful medical staff. Mr Roy could not be saved, and thus the country saw its first death of the Troubles and the first death at the hands of the Republicans during this ‘new’ period of history.


That fateful 14 August was not many minutes old when further savage rioting broke out, with the RUC and their Auxiliaries, the ‘B’ Specials, in action as Protestants and Catholics, angered for different reasons, came onto the streets, throwing missiles at the police and at each other. Three Shorland armoured cars came under attack in the Divis Street/Falls Road area, from both sides; by now, petrol bombs were being thrown. Supplies of petrol bombs had been stockpiled for several days in caches in the Nationalist areas; on the tops of the Divis Street tower and the adjoining Divis complex, scores of the flaming weapons cascaded into the streets below. Shots were ringing out, prompting the officers to return fire, which resulted in the next death: that of Patrick Rooney, a 9-year-old boy who lived in St Brendan’s Pass.


The altar boy and his parents lived on the bottom floor of the flats; they had witnessed the rioting, the petrol bombs, the angry cries of the mobs. Mrs Rooney described the scene outside: ‘... half the street was on fire. I was trying to watch television, but Patrick went to bed. I’ll always remember he told me not to wake him until late ...’ At around 01.30 hours, as the child slept in the ground-floor flat, it was hit by four high-velocity rounds, fired from one of the Shorlands. One of the rounds hit the sleeping child, mortally wounding him, passing straight through his head and impacting in a mass of blood and brains on his bedroom wall. Another of the rounds also hit his father, Neely, who was fortunately only grazed on the forehead. At first it was thought that Patrick had fainted at the sight of his father being hit; however, once it was realised that the boy had been shot, his parents went outside into the pandemonium that reigned to summon an ambulance. An Australian journalist reporting on the chaotic scenes realised that an ambulance was required. He took out a white handkerchief, waving it as he ventured through the ongoing gun-battle. Patrick’s distraught parents watched as he was picked up by a passing ambulance, which arrived shortly afterwards. He was taken first to the City Hospital on Lisburn Road, before being rushed to the RVH, where the staff now knew that they were in for a very rough night; Patrick died shortly afterwards. The RUC were apparently unaware that young Patrick had been hit, and indeed it took the intervention of British journalist Max Hastings to alert them to the fact. In 2018, the Police Ombudsman announced that he intended to reopen the case. However, there was only one surviving member of the RUC team from that night (a 78-year-old); he voluntarily attended a meeting with the Historical Enquiries Team. Further details had not emerged at the time of publication. A leading MLA (Member of the Legislative Assembly) – Doug Beattie – told the Belfast Newsletter: ‘How can an investigation be balanced and fair? The shooting came at a time of intense rioting before the Army came onto the streets.’


The author, at that time a 19-year-old soldier, read the following morning’s newspapers; it made horrific reading, in particular the interview with Patrick’s father – a former British soldier – as he described returning to their flat after leaving their dead child in the hospital. In it, he stated that he had tried to scrape Patrick’s brain matter off the bedroom wall, with the only thing that he could find, a kitchen spoon. Although there were no further fatalities in those early hours, the rioting and firing continued, resulting in scores of injured in the RVH, with others being taken to the Mater Hospital on the Crumlin Road.


The RUC and the ‘B’ Specials were being run off their feet, coming under fire from the higher flats of the Divis Tower as well as from street level. In a later inquiry, several of the officers in the Shorlands had tried to justify their shots towards Patrick Rooney’s house, stating that they had come under fire from the Divis Tower. This, however, did not explain why around thirteen rounds were fired at ground-floor flats in the complex. The later Scarman Inquiry tellingly remarked: ‘We believe that, appalled by the human consequences of their shooting and frightened by the spectre of revenge, the Shorland crew members have not made to the Tribunal a full disclosure of what they know occurred.’


Approximately twenty hours after the death of Patrick Rooney, amid what has been described as a ‘catastrophic riot’ in the interface area of the Protestant Woodvale and the Catholic Ardoyne, there was another fatality. Mobs from both sides of the sectarian divide – it might better be described as an abyss – had started to construct barricades. Both sides would claim that their respective makeshift barriers were for protective purposes, and it is very clear that their mutual worries were very well considered as well as justified.


The more serious of the clashes occurred in Hooker Street, which, back in those pre-urban redevelopment days, ran into the Crumlin Road, close to the Woodvale. The conflict then began to escalate as IRA gunmen joined in the action, firing on RUC officers as they tried to get in between the rioting parties. At one stage, several IRA volunteers, thought to have been armed with First World War German Mauser rifles firing the outdated 7.92mm round and possibly former British Army Lee–Enfield .303s, ageing Thompsons and shotguns, engaged in a firefight with police officers. The fighting moved into nearby Herbert Street, where the McLarnon family lived. With all the street lights deliberately extinguished, the firing continued, illuminated only by muzzle flashes from both ends of the street and by the burning buildings.


In one of the houses, Ulsterbus employee Samuel McLarnon (27) was closing the blinds to his living room window in Herbert Street at precisely the same moment that RUC officers opened fire. They were retaliating to shots being fired at them by IRA gunmen. Three rounds entered his window, one of them striking him in the head, mortally wounding him. He fell, drenching the carpet and furniture in his blood, in front of his shocked wife. He was taken to the Mater but was already dead as the high-velocity round had caused catastrophic damage to his head.


Moments after Mr McLarnon was mortally wounded, Michael Lynch (28) who lived in Strathroy Street, approximately 600 yards from the scene, was crossing Butler Street when a stray round, thought to have been fired by an RUC officer, hit him in the chest. He had been walking towards Elmfield Street where, it has been claimed, around eight men were hit by stray rounds, thought to have been fired by an automatic weapon, possibly an RUC Sterling sub-machine gun; he died at the scene.


The 14th was not over, and nor had the violence or deaths ended, when David Linton (48), a father of three, was fatally wounded by IRA gunmen firing into Palmer Street in the Protestant Woodvale. The gunmen had crossed over the sectarian interface, firing at anything that moved in the Protestant housing on the south side of the Crumlin Road. At this stage, the rioting had raged for around six hours, with the exhausted, unrelieved police officers having temporarily abandoned their positions, thus creating a vacuum. It was into these positions that the emboldened gunmen had started to infiltrate when Mr Linton strayed into their sights.


The tactics employed by Catholic rioters in the absence of police was to throw petrol bombs and other missiles into Palmer Street, thus luring the Protestant residents into the open. The alarmed residents began to retaliate with the same weapons, with their own gunmen in support. They pushed their barricade to the very mouth of Palmer Street where it adjoins the Crumlin Road, and began to take the initiative. However, the gunmen fired a shotgun at the Protestants, hitting Mr Linton in the neck and chest, fatally wounding him, leaving him lying in a pool of blood. Shots were fired back, which it is believed wounded two of the IRA gunmen, who were whisked away to a sympathetic doctor in the Ardoyne or New Lodge. The fatally wounded Protestant was rushed to the RVH, where he died from internal bleeding some ten hours later on the 15th.


At around the same time, some 43 miles south-west of the drama, in Armagh City, a Catholic civil rights march was in the process of breaking up when mobs of both Catholics and Protestants began to gather, hurling insults and sectarian slurs at each other. The RUC appeared to have the matter under control; at that stage, it seemed highly unlikely that the Ardoyne and Divis Street violence would be replicated on the same scale there in Armagh. However, a unit of seventeen ‘B’ Specials had arrived from nearby Tynan at 23.00 hours in private vehicles; their main role was taking part in border patrols, with very little, if any, riot training. A lone RUC inspector had instructed them to follow him into Cathedral Road, but the two parties managed to lose contact. Instead, the ‘B’ Specials found themselves at a Catholic barricade at the mouth of Edward Street. By this stage, the verbals had turned into violence, with rioting taking part on both sides; petrol bombs and rocks were by now the order of the day, being used by both Catholic and Protestant alike.


The driver of the leading car drove through one of the barricades in Edward Street, quickly followed by the other cars in the convoy. As the cars crashed through, the seventeen part-time police officers thought themselves in severe danger; quite clearly the mood of the mob was undoubtedly hostile. One of the officers opened fire, which was the cue for a panicked volley of shots from his colleagues. They formed themselves into a crude line abreast before they began firing over the heads of the crowd; inevitably some shots were deliberately fired into the mass of people trying to escape. One of the shots hit John Gallagher (30), a father of three, in his back and two others in the crowd were also hit.


Later, twelve of the seventeen testified that they had fired over the heads of the crowd; however, five stated that they had fired into them. One officer initially admitted that his Sterling sub-machine gun had accidentally discharged while on ‘auto’, with several rounds hitting people. The ‘B’ Specials had a very poor reputation amongst the incoming soldiers and were hated by the Catholic population. It is not within the remit of this author to put the blame for the shooting on these men, but the later Scarman Tribunal found them culpable of manslaughter, concluding:




It is not possible to identify who fired the shot that killed Mr. Gallagher, or who wounded the other two men. Nevertheless, the Tribunal rejects the contention that none of the B Specials fired into the crowd. The Tribunal is satisfied that some of them did so fire, and that one of them killed Mr. Gallagher.





Clearly, the auxiliaries did open fire and in doing so acted from a deadly combination of panic and sectarian hatred, as well as simply being unskilled and untrained in riot control.
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Steel-helmeted police at a burning barricade across Shankill Road, Belfast, littered with stones and debris after a spree of rioting in 1969.


While some of the men cheerfully made statements to RUC officers, the arrival of legal representatives prevented the others from incriminating themselves, thus beginning the start of a mass cover-up. It was several days before their weapons and uniforms were collected for evidence, by which time both clothing and weapons had been cleaned, thus removing vital forensic evidence. Mr Gallagher was taken to a nearby hospital, where he died shortly afterwards. One of his stepdaughters, Catherine Dunne, was 16 at the time of his death and later went on to become a nun. She was killed almost twenty-one years later, on 24 July 1990, by a PIRA landmine on the Killylea Road between Armagh and Navan Fort along with three police officers. The nun was in a car that was hit by the blast of a 1,000lb (454kg) device that was aimed at the RUC vehicle.


It was midnight now as the firing died down and blazing buildings were finally extinguished by exhausted fire fighters. In different morgues in Belfast and Armagh, five people lay dead; their cold bodies alone in the dark with all life extinct offered grim proof that a type of apocalypse was about to be visited on the small country of Northern Ireland. Meanwhile, in the RVH’s intensive care unit, another man – David Linton – was fighting for his life. It was day one of the Troubles, but there were another 10,366 days to go before anyone dared to believe that the Troubles were finished. More than 4,000 bodies would occupy morgues all over Northern Ireland, England, Germany, Holland and Belgium before it was all over.
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Armed soldiers behind a wall on Londonderry’s Bogside.


Meanwhile, over on the British mainland, soldiers were being issued with live ammunition in barracks the length and breadth of England, Scotland and Wales. They were packing their kit bags, readying their vehicles and saying goodbye to loved ones as they prepared to deploy to Ulster the following day, with the Royal Regiment of Wales, Royal Artillery and Prince of Wales’ Own Regiment of Yorkshire in the vanguard.


Major Ken Draycott, Royal Regiment of Wales:




On the night of August 13, we were about to settle down for a meal and I made a quick phone call to the Mrs and she had seen on the News that troops were going in the next day. I can remember as though it were yesterday saying to her: ‘It’ll never happen; if they call the troops in, it will last 30 years.’ [Major Draycott was almost prophetic; it lasted thirty-nine.] I went back to my seat but before the first morsel had passed my lips the C.O. called the entire Battalion to parade on the square in 30 minutes. We were soon at Springfield Road police station just off the Falls Road and I set off to collect food and equipment from Palace Barracks, but every unit in Belfast had the same idea at the same moment! The first night was like Bonfire night with explosions, flames and gunfire lighting up everywhere. British troops went in with steel helmets, with camouflage scrim and fixed bayonets. As we had no flak jackets – the British Army had not used them since Korea – I was detailed to go to the QM’s store and collect them. I had never seen one before, let alone used one and I foolishly tried to pick up ten at once; they weighed an absolute ton. They would shortly prove their value.





By the end of the day, they were patrolling the streets of Belfast and Londonderry, receiving, if not an exactly rapturous welcome, at least an enthusiastic one. However, even as dozens of Bedford 3-tonners drove out of a dozen Army camps on the mainland, disturbing only nocturnal creatures, the rioting continued in Belfast, particularly around what has long been regarded as the epicentre of the Troubles: Divis Street.


Trooper Hugh McCabe (20), a married father of two tiny children, was serving with the Queen’s Royal Irish Hussars, stationed at the time in Germany with the British Army of the Rhine. He was home on leave with his family, living in Whitehall Row in the Divis complex, when he was seen on one of the balconies and later on the roof of what some of us called the ‘Zanussi’. This author has always believed that the young soldier was an innocent bystander, killed accidentally, thus becoming the first soldier to die in the Troubles. However, recent evidence and a belated claiming of him by Sinn Féin has left me with serious doubts and misgivings about what I had previously accepted as ‘fact’.


What is not in any doubt is that Republican gunmen – either IRA or ad hoc Nationalist defence groups – were firing towards Hastings Street RUC, which was then located on the spot where the Lower Falls Road becomes Divis Street. An RUC marksman has stated that the firing was coming both from the roof and from one of the higher balconies of the complex. He claimed that McCabe had a rifle, and whilst there is no evidence of this, he clearly was standing dangerously close to some of the armed Republicans and may even have been throwing missiles at the police below. What is beyond question is that he was hit by an aimed shot as he stood on a neighbouring roof. The high-velocity round tore into his right cheek – evidence that the round was fired from the Hastings Street area to his right – entering his neck and lung, before making a large exit wound in his back. He died a few minutes afterwards, his lifeless body being taken to the RVH, poignantly not too far from where the hospital’s medical staff were trying to save David Linton’s life. Hugh McCabe’s father later stated that his son was pulling a wounded friend to safety when he was hit.


The following is purely anecdotal and is not offered as definitive evidence in the case; however, sources close to the author believe that although the dead soldier received a burial with full military honours at Milltown Cemetery, attended by British Army personnel, some of his comrades in the regiment had grave misgivings about his loyalties. Unsubstantiated reports have emerged in recent years that he was in favour of a united Ireland, speaking to others of his major Republican leanings. Sinn Féin subsequently erected a metal plaque close to scene of his death, claiming him as one of their own. It reads: ‘I ndil chuimhne. [Life springs from death.] This plaque is dedicated to the memory of Patrick Rooney aged 9. Hugh McCabe aged 20 who were murdered in this vicinity by the RUC on the 15th August 1969. A Mhuire Banríon na nGael guigh ortha [Mary, Queen of the Irish, pray for them].’


That day wore on, but in the hours before soldiers began to make their presence felt, appearing in steel helmets and with SLR 7.62mms with bayonets fixed, the rioting continued. The soldiers met the curious stares from the residents of the Falls Road with bewildered determination. We have examined the phenomenon of the sectarian interface areas in books and times passim, but it is just that: a phenomenon. Residents of the private housing in Manston Park, Leeds, do not regard the entry to the nearby Swarcliffe Estate as an interface, no more than posh residents of Hampstead regard nearby council housing with any real suspicion. In Belfast, however, it was very real, with suspicion engraved in the psyche of those who lived in these areas. Bombay Street was one such area; situated close to Cupar Way, it still stands in the enormous shadow cast by the ‘Peace Line’, which remains resolutely and stubbornly dividing Catholic from Protestant.


In the early afternoon of the 15th, gangs of Protestant men attacked the area around Bombay Street and the Clonard Monastery. Nationalists have always claimed that the incursions occurred in the presence of off-duty ‘B’ Specials. Their anarchic brief was to burn the Catholics out, thus creating a no-man’s-land between the two communities. Several homes were torched as Catholic families, containing both young and old, were forced to flee their homes with what pitiful personal belongings as could be collected. Although the RUC were nowhere to be seen, it must be noted that many of them were injured, exhausted after more than thirty-six hours of constant clashes, and the soldiers were yet to arrive. Yet another power vacuum had been created, into which the Protestant mobs, like the IRA gunmen the night before, spilled, intent on destruction. In the early afternoon there was sporadic firing; in one such incident, three members of an ad hoc Catholic defence force, together with a member of the IRA’s youth wing – the Fianna – were hit by shots fired by Loyalists. Two of the less badly wounded men helped the badly injured Fianna member Gerald McAuley (15). He half crawled and was half dragged to the Clonard Monastery, a short distance away. He finally collapsed in Waterville Street at the head of a long stream of blood. He was given the last rites by Father McLaughlin, who had run out of the monastery, alerted by the calls of the wounded. McAuley was rushed to the RVH but he died from his wounds, thus becoming the first Republican paramilitary to die during the course of the Troubles.


The death of the young Fianna boy was not without its significance; the long blood stain from Bombay Street to Waterville Street marked not only the end of his life, but also the first cracks and later division of the Irish Republican Army, resulting in the birth of the Provisionals. Local Catholics complained that the IRA, staffed as it was then with mainly old veterans of the last campaigns in the late 1950s, had failed to protect them. Indeed, graffiti began springing up around the area that claimed the IRA stood for ‘I Ran Away’. The so-called ‘young Turks’ began the breakaway move around that time, with militants such as Gerry Adams, Brendan Hughes and the late Martin McGuinness leading the split. Very soon, there would be two Republican paramilitary groups: the Provisional IRA (PIRA) and the Official IRA (OIRA), thereafter to be derisively referred to as the ‘Stickies’.* Shortly after McAuley was taken to the RVH’s fast-filling morgue, troops began to patrol the Belfast and Londonderry hotspots. A Welsh officer described that halcyon period as a bit of a honeymoon, writing:




These early days of troops on the streets became known as the ‘honeymoon period’. Tea was brewed for the troops in huge quantities by ordinary people delighted we were there. A patrol of the Catholic Markets area of Belfast inevitably meant half a dozen stops for a drink and a chat, and several more for the loo. ‘Community Relations’ became the big Army occupation – organising trips to the sea for kids, dances for teenagers, or football matches with the local lads. And we all felt what a jolly good job we were doing. I think we were aware of the political dimensions ... We all had a feeling there was injustice over housing, jobs, education and even justice. I think we certainly felt that we were on the side of the Catholics ... there was a huge amount of sympathy for them. That lasted a long time and it was probably the ham-fistedness of the politicians that put paid to that.





As the 15th wore on, the first of the troops began the process of assimilation; they offered a grim but friendly smile to the people of the Falls, Ardoyne and New Lodge in Belfast as well as on the Creggan, Bogside and Gobnascale in Londonderry. They confronted a smouldering landscape, smouldering in both the literal and metaphoric sense. Houses still burned, the streets were full of household items, and there were wrecked and rusting cars with all the detritus associated with an urban battleground. The men were sullen, the women suspicious but welcoming, with tea and biscuits and the occasional tray of proffered sandwiches being the order of the day. The children ... well the children were the same as in the rest of the world: curious, intrigued and mesmerised by the sight of big men with rifles and bayonets, speaking in accents as mysterious as if they had come from Borneo or China. One Welsh soldier told the author:




Well, I walked along the Falls Road and there were houses just like there were back in the valleys. Not so colourful, mind, not the different colours I was used to, but long rows of blackened slums, and people were the same as back in the Rhondda; they just spoke differently. One of the men called me an ‘English bastard!’ I just smiled and replied: ‘You can call me what you want to, but I’m not fucking English; I am Welsh!’





Operation Banner, the longest-running campaign in the long history of the British Army, had commenced; it had thirty-eight more years to run.


One thing that was alien to the British soldiers, irrespective of their English, Scottish or Welsh backgrounds, was the enormous shift in population that they were about to witness. In the rioting and burning out of houses in the interface areas there was also a most deliberate and systematic eviction of families based on religion alone. It is estimated that around 3,000 to 4,000 people were forced out of their homes, given only time to carry away their few pieces of furniture, personal possessions and clothing; some were not given even that and fled in just the clothes in which they stood. Some 1,500 Catholic families were forced out of Protestant areas – and not only in interface areas – as well as 300 Protestant families who were forced to flee areas such as Springfield Road, the Ardoyne and the New Lodge, with a further 700 in New Barnsley. It was as though the anarchy and the breakdown of law and order had given bigots of both sides the excuse to wreak their revenge on the innocents of the ‘other side’. In some cases it was for the families’ own good and there are documented examples of kindly Protestants helping Catholic families to safety and, of course, vice versa. One Catholic friend of the author told him on condition of anonymity:




I lived at the time on Springfield Road, opposite Violet Street and the RUC barracks. One of my immediate neighbours was a Proddie widow woman with four wains and she was crying and beside herself, as some of the local ‘Defenders’ had threatened to petrol bomb her out. Me and my brother borrowed a handcart and we helped shift them to some of their family on the Shankill. I felt ashamed, but I couldn’t turn my back on the teachings of Jesus Christ.





Other mass evacuations and population shifts were taking place at the same time all over Northern Ireland; there was a very obvious reduction in the number of ‘mixed’ areas, and soon such areas would become somewhat of a rarity. Within the microcosm that was Belfast in 1969, ‘Catholic-only’ enclaves were becoming more and more defined; within a short space of time, Twinbrook, Poleglass, Andersonstown, Ballymurphy, Whiterock and New Barnsley would be occupied only by families of the Roman Catholic faith. The Shankill, Woodvale and Crumlin Road would be the sole province of Protestants, and the few Catholics in Rathcoole and Rathfern who still clung stubbornly to their homes were being ‘encouraged’ to leave. Indeed, the Sands family who lived in Rathcoole were forced to leave by Protestant thugs, possibly setting in motion the recruitment into the Provisionals of their son, Bobby, who would achieve either fame or infamy as the first of the PIRA hunger-strikers to die in 1981.


In Londonderry also, the tribal areas were well demarcated: on the West Bank of the Foyle, the Bogside, Creggan, Rosemount, Shantallow and Cityside were all Catholic, with few Protestants living on that bank. On the opposite bank, the Gobnascale – known affectionately as the ‘Gob’ – was Catholic/Nationalist, with the Fountains area staunchly Protestant/Loyalist. In many ways, the Fountains, hemmed in by Catholic areas, found itself under the same sort of siege as the Catholic Short Strand area of East Belfast. Jonathan Burgess, in his informative book,* describes how 90 per cent of the Protestant population of the West Bank were forced to flee to safer areas. Indeed, he writes that by 1997 even the Chinese population of the West Bank outnumbered the Protestants still living there. The gradual destruction of the mainly Protestant-owned businesses in the city centre by the Provisionals during an incessant and vicious bombing campaign was another less subtle way of forcing the Protestants over to the other side of the Foyle. It was clear by the number of the relatively few Catholic businesses that were attacked by the bombers that it was purely discriminatory on the part of the IRA. Their intention was to bomb the city centre back into the Stone Age, making a wasteland of where thriving businesses had once stood.


One Protestant told Burgess:




The biggest problem for anybody living on the west bank of the Foyle and one of the main reasons for the exodus was that anybody with teenagers, especially sons, they could not let these sons out on a night and walk freely around the streets. They couldn’t go to the Boys’ Brigade, they couldn’t go to the youth club, they couldn’t go to the scouts, they couldn’t go anywhere because they would have been assaulted.**





Another said:




I was born in Londonderry and lived in Shantallow. My dad was in the RUC ... We weren’t allowed to tell anyone what our dad was. He was a ‘civil servant’ but the reality was that everyone knew us. At the start of the Troubles, we lived alongside our Catholic neighbours. After ‘Bloody Sunday’ I remember getting out of the car after going to church and our Catholic friends started calling dad a Nazi. We didn’t play with them after that. I wasn’t allowed to go to school for a few weeks after ‘Bloody Sunday’ because there was a threat on police families ... we didn’t open the door until we knew who was there ... Our friends were moving across the water. We moved in 1972. We just didn’t feel safe anymore ... It’s painful to talk about.***





The Belfast Newsletter wrote in 2008:




Some 12,000 to 15,000 Protestants over four decades fled their homes on Londonderry’s cityside, leaving behind houses their families had lived in for generations. Even the Creggan, the first housing estate to be built in Londonderry after the Second World War, had a sizeable Protestant community, though they were among the first to flee when the violence broke out at the end of the 1960s. Over the turbulent years, as the IRA spread fear throughout the west bank, the trickle of fleeing men, women and children became a mass exodus and by the 1970s no members of the RUC could live on Londonderry’s cityside. A side effect was the dwindling numbers of children attending Protestant schools, while church congregations on the cityside faded away.*





There were many instances of a ‘scorched earth’ policy being employed on both sides, which subsequently resulted in an inexorable, irrevocable widening of the sectarian divide. Catholics, on being forcibly evicted, were setting fire to their homes to deny them to a Protestant family and, of course, Protestants were doing the same to their houses.


A fine example was New Barnsley; it was a small post-war estate built to the west of Belfast with easy access to the Springfield Road and the nearby Protestant estates of Springmartin and Woodvale. In 1964, earlier census returns indicated that it was about 94 per cent Protestant. However, as the sectarian tensions of 1967 and 1968 began to build, so militant Catholics from the ’Murph became more emboldened as they began to make open attacks on the Protestants across the Springfield Road. A Unionist source referred to the invaders as ‘Gerry Adams’ boy soldiers from the Ballymurphy’. These thugs and vandals began to make increasing inroads into the area. There were isolated attacks on Protestant children on their way to and from school, as well as sporadic acts of vandalism and assaults on the residents, both men and women. Encouraged by centuries of hatred and division and the growing strength of NICRA, these attacks became increasingly frequent. This built to a head in 1970 when the event of an Orange parade gave rise to an outbreak of intense rioting by mobs from the Ballymurphy, Turf Lodge and from as far away as Andersonstown.


Sinn Féin and other Republican organisations extracted great political capital from this rioting – openly encouraging Catholics to force a Protestant exodus from ‘their area’ – giving full propaganda support to their people. The effects of this sustained rioting were gradual, but steady; in 1970, the Army and RUC had to step in to prevent continued violence. The Protestants of New Barnsley knew that their days there were numbered, with families starting to move further northwards, towards Springmartin, Woodvale and the Shankill. What began as a trickle soon turned into a raging torrent as family after family packed up their furniture and personal possessions. It was the reverse of the earlier Catholic evacuation of their homes in the Crumlin Road area.
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A family flee their home during rioting in Belfast, 1969.


Within two months of the onset of this quite deliberate campaign of harassment and intimidation, more than 700 Protestants had moved from New Barnsley. Some had deliberately smashed water pipes, damaged the electrical supply and performed other acts of vandalism to ensure that incoming Catholic families would not have a smooth transition. A former soldier and former resident of New Barnsley told the author:
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British soldiers patrol Belfast in 1969.




I was only a wain when it happened, but I remember my wee mammy and my da’ being upset and always trying to get us to stay in the house. And I remember bricks and stuff being thrown at our house by the taigs from across the big main road. One day, my uncle came and he and da’ packed everything onto the back of a lorry; beds, sofa, chairs, suitcases and a wee box of my toys. Then he and my father went to the ‘jacks’ [toilet] and they shoved loads of bits of stone and clay from the garden down the bowl. Then my uncle got a big hammer, so he did, and smashed all the pipes. Mammy was crying, but my uncle he just looked very, very angry.





Again, these were identical tactics to those carried out by intimidated Catholics on the other side of the sectarian divide. In mid October, a Presbyterian minister vacated his house – located, with a certain irony, on the Ballymurphy side of the Springfield Road – as he no longer had a congregation; his church, which had been located in the Henry Taggart Memorial Hall, was eventually taken over by the Army and used as a base.


This naturally raises that most obscene of phrases: ‘ethnic cleansing’. It is a vile crime that has been practised down the centuries, from the days when Anglo-Saxons fought the Danes and Norsemen in the ninth and tenth centuries; and when William the Conqueror, better known as ‘William the bastard’, wiped out much of the population of what is today modern Yorkshire, citing their bloody resistance to his rule as his reason for butchery on a mass scale. Hitler’s extermination camps brought about the deaths of more than 6 million European Jews; his ethnic cleansing brought about mass deaths amongst gypsies, Jehovah’s Witnesses, the mentally ill and the disabled. As recently as 1992, the Serbians set out to ethnically cleanse Bosnia, massacring thousands of Bosnian Muslims – known as ‘Bosniaks’ – including 8,000 men seized in Sarajevo.


Although the term has been used in the forced exodus of Catholics from Protestant areas and, of course, vice versa, with some justification, this author concedes that it is difficult to reconcile the use of this term in Belfast and Londonderry, particularly considering the hideous murder of Jews between 1938 and 1945, Bosnians in the 1990s and minority tribes during the Biafran Civil War (1967–70). Parts of Belfast were subject to a form of ethnic cleansing, but only on a microcosmic scale when compared to the bigger situation in the second half of the twentieth century.


Interestingly, the Provisional IRA, which stated that it was not a sectarian organisation, nevertheless displayed what can only be described as overt sectarianism in its selection of some targets. Indeed, veteran Republican Colm Murphy spoke in 2016 of the IRA’s contingency for plans for what it described as ‘... ethnic cleansing in South Armagh’ should there be any Loyalist retaliation for the Kingsmill massacre in January 1976. The IRA’s selection of victims included Protestant workmen – Kingsmill and the later Teebane attack in 1992 – and Protestant businessmen on the spurious grounds of ‘collaborating with Crown Forces’. The killing of Protestant shopkeeper Douglas Deering in Rosslea on 12 May 1977 is further evidence of their sectarian tendencies. His shop in the fiercely Republican village of Rosslea in Co. Fermanagh was bombed no fewer than four times before PIRA gunmen shot him dead there. The attacks on Protestant farmers in the border areas of both Co. Tyrone and Fermanagh was a conscious form of border genocide as they sought to force out the minority Protestants. The ‘ethnic cleansing’ may not have been on the scale of the attempted eradication of European Jewry or the Muslims of Bosnia, but it is further evidence of the practice by both sides during the Troubles; it also shows further evidence of the IRA’s involvement with sectarianism.


Later, that year – 1969 – Loyalists killed two Catholics following the death of IRA man Gerard McAuley, and Loyalist gunmen shot and killed the first RUC officer to die because of the Troubles. On 16 October, Constable Victor Arbuckle was killed during disturbances on the Shankill, ironically during Protestant protests at the disbanding of the discredited ‘B’ Specials. (See Chapter 8: Loyalist Paramilitaries.)


The siege mentality that would later result in the ‘Berlinisation’ of Belfast, Londonderry and many other Northern Irish towns and cities was being set in motion. Was it irrevocable? This author sadly thinks so and, having visited Northern Ireland seven times since his first post-Troubles return in 2008, has seen nothing to convince him otherwise that the ‘peace lines’ are now set permanently into the landscape.





 


________________


* He was one of the first PIRA OCs in the Falls/Leeson Street area of Belfast.


* The OIRA were known by this epithet because they sold stick-on lilies to commemorate the 1916 Easter Rising; the Provisionals, because they produced pinned-on lilies, were known as ‘pinnies’, although this did not survive and they were generally were known as ‘Provies’ or the RA.


* The Exodus, Jonathan Burgess (Causeway Press, 2011).


** Ibid. pp.89, 90.


*** Ibid. pp.91, 92.


* www.newsletter.co.uk/news/finally-the-truth-about-londonderry-s-exodus-to-betold-on-television-1-1862606.




CHAPTER 2


THE FIRST BRITISH SOLDIERS DIE


The first ‘official’ death of a soldier as a consequence of the Troubles was Gunner Robert Curtis on 6 February 1971; the 20-year-old father of two was mortally wounded by an IRA gunman in a brief but deadly firefight in the Catholic New Lodge. However, before then, in addition to Trooper McCabe, killed on 14 August 1969, a further twenty-one soldiers had been returned to their families on the mainland or in Ulster in Union Flag-draped coffins, killed in or because of the Troubles.


On 13 September 1969, Lance Corporal Michael Spurway was shot in ‘controversial circumstances’. On the same day, Craftsman Christopher Edgar (19) from REME died from ‘violent or unnatural causes’; just eleven days later Lance Corporal Michael John ‘Mickey’ Pearce (23) of the Royal Green Jackets died in the same manner. The author is fully aware of the circumstances behind the Jackets’ death but will never reveal them in public. On the 25th of the following month, two more Jackets were killed on duty: Rifleman Michael ‘Mike’ Boswell (19) and Rifleman John Peter Byrne Keeney (24) died when their vehicle was ploughed into by a lorry while they were en route to set up a vehicle checkpoint (VCP) close to Omagh in Co. Tyrone. Three months later, Major Philip Cowley (45) of the Royal Corps of Transport died on duty; in the March, Guardsman John Edmunds (24) of the Scots Guards drowned while on duty. A total of eight soldiers – including McCabe – had now been killed in the Troubles, and the troops had only been on the ground for seven months. More were to follow, as on 21 May Private Peter Docherty (19) of the Parachute Regiment was stabbed to death. Four weeks later, Private James Singleton (36) of the Queen’s Lancashire Regiment died while on duty. The following day, another Para, Private Victor Richard Chapman (26), was drowned while on duty, the second such death. A total of twelve Operation Banner personnel died through this means, in what has been seen as an inexplicable, certainly bizarre, series of events.


In June 1970, Private David Pitchford of the Queen’s Regiment was killed in a road traffic accident (RTA) while on duty. A month later, Staff-Sergeant Peter David Sinton (44) of the King’s Own Scottish Borderers died through violent or unnatural causes. On 22 October, Private Thomas McMaster Wilton (27) of the Ulster Defence Regiment (UDR) died on duty. This was followed by the death of another UDR soldier, John George Proctor (32), in that most ubiquitous killers of members of the Ulster Defence Regiment: the RTA. Just forty-eight hours later, Major Peter Doidge (35) of the Royal Anglians was killed when his Browning 9mm fell on the ground and discharged a round into his head. The following month, another Royal Anglian was added to the Roll of Honour (ROH) when Private Brian John Sheridan (20) was killed in an RTA. Eleven soldiers had died this year, a total of sixteen since the first ‘boots on the ground’. Finally, on 24 November, Trooper James Christopher Doyle (28) of the 17/21 Lancers died on duty in Omagh, Co. Tyrone.


The first five weeks of 1971 would witness three more military deaths, before Gunner Robert Curtis’ death sent shockwaves throughout the British public, blissfully unaware that twenty-one other soldiers had already been returned to their loved ones in coffins, sometimes marked ‘unviewable’. On 19 January, the Royal Irish lost two of their soldiers when Sergeant Thomas McGahon (25) and Corporal James Singleton (32) were killed as rioters stoned their Land Rover, which overturned killing both men. On 3 February, the 14/20 Hussars lost Sergeant John Ernest Platt (25), who was killed at Crumlin when his vehicle was forced off the road by Republican paramilitaries. The stakes were about to be raised quite dramatically just seventy-two hours afterwards, on what Royal Artillery soldier Mick Pickford described as the ‘long streets’ of the Republican New Lodge. The long, grimy red-bricked terraces seemed to stretch for miles; places such as Spamount Street, Duncairn Gardens and Hillman Street offer grim evidence of the enclaves into which many Catholics huddled together, their fears and their trust implanted deeply in the siege and safety in numbers mentality.


On the evening of 6 February 1971, another soldier was killed, officially the ‘first’ to die on active service during Operation Banner (Op Banner). The Royal Artillery, one of the oldest regiments in the British Army, were being used in the infantry role, a role for which they were neither accustomed nor trained. In the darkness of a cold February night, Gunner Curtis (20) was standing on the corner of Lepper Street where it met the New Lodge Road. He was close to Fitzgerald’s Bar, a grimy haunt at the best of times, and one where this author would certainly not be welcomed. A Catholic mob of around 100 had been petrol-bombing the Gunners; things were fraught and dangerous, with the soldiers staving off missile after missile and the flaming bottles of petrol that burst with a life-threatening whoosh at their feet. A PIRA gunman, known to be Billy Reid, armed with a Thompson machine gun, had positioned himself at the base of one of the New Lodge Tower blocks, a little distance away. Reid opened fire from beyond the recommended firing distance, either with haste or just hoping for a lucky ricochet, firing a burst of twelve or thirteen rounds. The rounds, which travel at 935ft per second (285m per sec), sped towards the distracted soldiers. The .45 bullet was almost spent when it penetrated the unprotected armpit of Curtis’ flak jacket and entered his heart, causing him to stagger and fall, letting out a scream. His comrades pulled him into cover, unaware that he was mortally wounded; indeed, one soldier placed a lighted cigarette in the wounded man’s mouth but when it failed to glow in the dark, the realisation struck home that his comrade was dead. Two other soldiers were also wounded. In total, nine soldiers from the Royal Artillery/Royal Horse Artillery would be killed in Northern Ireland before the year was over. The following morning, Sir James Chichester-Clark, then Prime Minister of Northern Ireland said, unequivocally: ‘Northern Ireland is at war with the Irish Republican Army Provisionals.’


The dead soldier’s wife was three months pregnant at the time of her husband’s death and was flown from West Germany to be with her parents in the Newcastle-upon-Tyne area; she gave birth to a baby girl later that year. The PIRA gunman, William ‘Billy’ Reid, was killed three months later by a Scottish soldier, ironically in Curtis Street, central Belfast.


By the end of 1971, the second full year of the Troubles, a total of eighty-nine British military personnel had been lost to all causes, the majority to the IRA’s bullets or bombs. In the four years of the Aden crisis (1963–67), the British lost 227 dead; in the five years of the Cyprus Emergency (1955–60), fatalities totalled 371. By the end of the following year, in a place fondly known as Britain’s back yard, the numbers of the dead would surpass the losses in Aden; soon the fatalities would also surpass those of Cyprus.


[image: Illustration]


A soldier receives first aid after being injured by debris after a car bomb explosion on the Crumlin Road on 29 May 1972.
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A soldier in prone position keeps a watch for gunmen.


During the main years of the Troubles (1969–98), a total of 1,369* British military personnel died as a consequence of the conflict; some were killed in terrorist action, others died through negligent discharges, yet others died in suicides. One other major cause of death was road traffic accidents (RTA), which particularly cut a swathe through the UDR. This is unsurprising given the long hours that they worked, especially the part-timers who had day jobs on farms, in factories, warehouses, etc., before donning their uniforms and carrying out night-time as well as weekend foot patrols, manning VCPs as well as other military duties. A perusal of the UDR Roll of Honour, which includes 368 names, shows a quite staggering seventy-two deaths through RTAs.


One former UDR soldier told the author:




I worked 8 hours a day as a farm labourer, usually getting home around 4 o’clock in the afternoon. A quick wash and then into my uniform and off to the barracks. We would have a briefing before going out on patrol or to set up a snap VCP. I would often not be home until gone midnight. It would be dark, but I would still have to check likely ambush points around my house and garden. Afterwards, I would fall into bed after making sure that my service-issue weapon was under my pillow and everywhere locked up. My alarm would go off at around 5 a.m. and then it was back to the farm. I was literally spending my days and nights as a walking dead; all of us were, we were just so bloody tired.





Another explained how, when travelling in the back of a Land Rover, seeing miles after mile of tarmac and white lines, the hypnosis effect made him believe that they had stopped the vehicle and he had to be physically restrained from getting out of what he thought was a stationary vehicle.


The dangers facing these men were not simply the prosaic accidents, as a total of 129 UDR soldiers – female as well as male – were killed by Republican paramilitaries while off-duty. The attack locations took various forms: at work or to and from work; at home or journeys to and from home; even while shopping or visiting relatives. One part-time soldier – Corporal William McKee – was shot and killed by PIRA gunmen as he drove a school bus with several children on board. A former UDR soldier – James Gibson – was also killed by the IRA as he drove a school bus. One part-time soldier – Staff Sergeant Bobby Lennox – who worked as a postman, was lured to a remote farmhouse with a package that PIRA personnel had posted; as he arrived, gunmen shot him dead. Another postman – Sergeant Jock Eaglesham – was shot by a PIRA gunman as he delivered letters on his regular route. Glen Espie, a plumber with the Northern Ireland Housing Executive, was twice lured to houses on the pretext of working, being shot and wounded by PIRA gunmen. For a member of the UDR, it was more dangerous to be off-duty than actually carrying out military duties. Thanks to an army of IRA dickers – supporters who would report Security Force movements and tactics – as well as myriad sympathisers and even disaffected neighbours, there was never a shortage of people prepared to betray the existence of a part-time soldier to the Provisionals.


This author has identified 1,369 members of the military – Army, RAF and Royal Navy – male and female, full and part-time, as well as former members killed due to past association, who died in or as a consequence of the Troubles. That most august of bodies, the Northern Ireland Veterans’ Association (NIVA), while using slightly different criteria and parameters, set the figure in excess of 1,500. The figure that is often used by certain naïve journalists, Wikipedia addicts as well as the British Ministry of Defence is 722. This figure denigrates the efforts, sacrifice and contribution of the other personnel who died in or as a consequence of the Troubles; the old adage applies: if they hadn’t been there, they wouldn’t have died.





 


________________


* See NIVA figures below.




CHAPTER 3


THE RISE OF THE PROVISIONAL IRISH REPUBLICAN ARMY


The Provisional IRA (PIRA) began to emerge in the weeks and days before December 1969, some four months after the start of the troubles. Many younger members of the Republican paramilitaries lamented the inertia of the IRA’s Old Guard, and what they perceived as a pusillanimous response to sectarian attacks. The ‘young Turks’, comprising men such as Gerry Adams and Brendan Hughes in Belfast and Martin McGuinness in Londonderry’s Bogside, epitomised the new brand of Irish Republicanism; they seemed to view this recrudescence of sectarian violence purely as opportunistic – the cataclysm to finally driving the British into the sea and a realisation of their dream of a united Ireland. These men were determined not to repeat the mistakes of the past IRA; they were more militant, more ruthless and more determined to win, whatever the cost. At an IRA Special Army Convention (SAC) held in Dublin on 28 December 1969, the IRA split into two factions; the majority stayed with the ‘Official IRA’ (OIRA) with the minority forming the ‘Provisional IRA’.


The split was best characterised as acrimonious, at times very confused, with life-long friends, even family members, joining different wings. Initially, neither wing had a name or a title; Republicans simply referred to the warring factions as IRA Brady (Provisionals) and IRA Goulding (Officials). They were also known as ‘Pinnies’ and ‘Stickies’, respectively; see Chapter 1 for an explanation. Martin McGuinness, a Londonderry barman from the Creggan estate who would eventually rise to become the most powerful man in the Provisionals, was caught out by the split. Apparently unaware that there had been a schism, he initially sided with the Officials before crossing over to the more militant Provisionals. Although many observers of the paramilitary scene were caught unawares at first, it soon became very clear that the leadership of PIRA needed the stage to themselves and were prepared to use whatever chicanery was available to them so as to discredit the OIRA. There are later examples of tactics that they employed in 1972, such as the engineering of Bloody Sunday and the murder of Ranger William Best. The murder of the off-duty Creggan soldier was carried out by the Officials but they were manoeuvred into it by the Provisionals.


Another fine example was the Falls Road curfew of July 1970. The Provisionals had been agitating for some time, making the place lawless, attacking both the RUC as well as the British Army in incidents involving arms and explosives. PIRA secretly and very cleverly moved their arms and personnel out of the Falls area, acutely aware that the Officials would be trapped when and if the inevitable occurred, as it did when 3,000 soldiers flooded the area and closed down the entire Falls. The loss of weaponry and personnel for the Officials created an arms gap with the Provisionals that was never closed, nor probably could have been. Chicanery and manoeuvrability gave the Provisionals the upper hand inside Ulster that they never lost.


There was intermittent feuding between the two wings, notably in 1971 when a local Provisional, Alec Crowe, was ‘arrested’ by armed OIRA men and taken to a local Official’s pub – the Cracked Cup on Balkan Street. Charlie Hughes, PIRA Officer Commanding (OC) of the area, was alerted by family member Brendan – of whom we shall hear more later – and the local unit was sent out fully armed. He ordered that the OIRA’s two local pubs – the Cracked Cup and the appropriately named Burning Embers – were to be burned down. Aware that their rivals were coming, OIRA members ambushed them in Leeson Street in full view of passing British Army patrols.
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